FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/5/2018 4:29 PM

Supreme Court No. <u>95625-1</u> (COA No. 75050-0-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

PAUL CHASE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
В.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT4
	A sweeping administrative summons for a business's bank accounts, without any judicial oversight, violates this Court's precedent and the constitutional privacy rights accorded to individuals and business entities
	2. Summoning all banking records in a business account without oversight is inconsistent with historical protections and far broader than the statute allows
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions

<i>In re Bolster</i> , 59 Wash. 655, 110 P. 547 (1910)9
Kelleher v. Minshull, 11 Wn.2d 380, 119 P.2d 302 (1941)9
State v. Boland, 115 Wn.2d 571, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990)
State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)
State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d. 121, 156 P.3d 893 (2007)5
State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864 (2007)
State v. Reeder, 184 Wn.2d 805, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015)
Washington Court of Appeals Decisions
Seymour v. Wash. State Department of Health, Dental Quality Assurance Commission, 152 Wn.App. 156, 160-61, 164, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009)8
United States Supreme Court Decisions
Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., _U.S, 134 S. Ct. 2751, 189 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2014)
Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 130 S. Ct. 876, 899, 175 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2010)
Donovan v. Dewey, 452 U.S. 594, 101 S.Ct. 2534, 69 L.Ed.2d 262 (1981);
G.M. Leasing, Inc. v. United States, 429 U.S. 338, 97 S.Ct. 619, 50

Hale v. Henkel, 201 U.S. 43, 26 S.Ct. 370, 50 L.Ed. 652 (1906)				
NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 83 S.Ct. 328, 9 L.Ed.2d 405 (1963); .8				
United States Constitution				
Fourth Amendment				
Washington Constitution				
Article I, section 7				
Statutes				
Laws of 1917				
RCW 1.16.0809				
RCW 4.20.005				
RCW 82.32.110				
RCW 9A.04.1109				
Court Rules				
RAP 13.3(a)(1)				
RAP 13.4(b)				

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Paul Chase, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b).

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Chase seeks review of the published decision by the Court of Appeals dated December 26, 2017, for which reconsideration was denied on February 1, 2018, copies of which are attached as Appendix A and B.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court has held that the government may not obtain business-related bank records without prior judicial approval because these records reveal private information protected by article I, section 7.

Addressing "a matter of first impression" in a published decision, the Court of Appeals held that a state agency can use an administrative subpoena to access any bank records if addressed to a business account, without judicial oversight, without notifying the business owner, and without substantive limits on the type of banking information gathered. Should this Court grant review to determine

whether a bank account used by a business contains no private affairs protected by article I, section 7 and the Fourth Amendment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Paul Chase owned a private construction business with his wife, called Red Leaf Construction. CP 89. He was the president, secretary, treasurer, and chairman of the board; his wife was vice president.

1/22RP 14; CP 89. No one else was named as part of the company's staff or management. CP 89.

The Department of Revenue sent Mr. Chase a notice demanding he produce all of Red Leaf's bank records after receiving a complaint that he had not been paying sales tax. CP 30. But the Department of Revenue sent its request to the wrong address and it was returned to the Department unopened. 38, 39. The request said his failure to comply could result in being found guilty "of contempt in Superior Court." CP 30.

The Department of Revenue sent this same summons to four banks, not knowing whether any bank had company records. CP 25.

The summons demanded all bank records for any account involving Red Leaf Construction. See CP 75. The summons stated the bank was:

required to produce then and there the following books, papers, records or documents for the period beginning January 1, 2008, and ending August 21, 2011: For RED LEAF CONSTRUCTION INC, UBI 602 782 203, including but not limited to account number 12510891 for each month listed above:

- 1- All bank statements
- 2- All bank signature cards
- 3- Copies of all checks written
- 4- Copies of front and back of all checks deposited
- 5- Copies of lease agreement
- 6 Copies of all invoices

CP 75. Banner Bank responded by sending all bank records it had for Red Leaf Construction, including Mr. Chase's own social security number and signature card, to the state agency. CP 90. Relying on these bank records, the State charged Mr. Chase, not Red Leaf Construction, with first degree theft for failing to pay retail sales tax to the State of Washington. CP 85-86.

Mr. Chase objected to this administrative process of obtaining these bank records without a judicial warrant or valid notice. CP 77-82. After a hearing, the court ruled that business bank records have no privacy protections under article I, section 7. CP 19.

Mr. Chase sought discretionary review in the Court of Appeals and the State concurred that review should be granted based on the importance of the issue to the prosecution. Commissioner's Ruling

Granting Review at 1-2 (Aug. 9, 2016). In a published decision, a panel of judges ruled that business records do not belong to any person and have no implication for privacy rights or protections.

Mr. Chase's trial court proceedings have been stayed pending the resolution of this appeal.

E. ARGUMENT

A sweeping administrative summons for a business's bank accounts, without any judicial oversight, violates this Court's precedent and the constitutional privacy rights accorded to individuals and business entities.

1. This Court has firmly established that judicial oversight is constitutionally necessary for the government to access bank records.

Financial records held by a bank, "are within the constitutional protection of private affairs" and require a warrant under article I, section 7. *State v. Miles*, 160 Wn.2d 236, 244 & n.4, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). Bank records are private affairs because they "potentially reveal[] sensitive personal information" including what people buy, organizations they support, and where they travel. *Id.* at 245-46.

Article I, section 7 similarly requires a judicial warrant for the government to search garbage sitting at the curb, telephone records, and a motel's guest registry, because each "can reveal much about a

person's activities, associations, and beliefs" that the government may not access without a warrant. *State v. Boland*, 115 Wn.2d 571, 578, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990); see *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 68, 720 P.2d 808 (1986) (outgoing phone numbers dialed are private affair); *State v. Jorden*, 160 Wn.2d. 121, 129, 156 P.3d 893 (2007) (protecting motel's guest registry from government access without a warrant, because they reveal private details of "personal or business associates").

In *Miles*, the state used an administrative subpoena to access bank records when investigating business fraud perpetrated by an investment advisor. 160 Wn.2d at 240-41. During its investigation, the Securities Division issued an administrative subpoena to a bank, requesting records of all accounts Miles used. *Id.* at 241. The bank provided the records, leading to criminal charges, including theft and securities fraud. *Id.* at 240.

This Court held that the administrative subpoena did not provide the necessary authority of law to obtain the bank records, which contained personal and business financial information. The State agency's broad subpoena gave it access to an array of personal details which must be overseen by a judge to supply the authority of law required by article I, section 7. *Id.* at 245.

Similarly, in *State v. Reeder*, 184 Wn.2d 805, 810, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015), this Court held that a government investigation into fraud by a business at least requires oversight by a special inquiry judge.

These cases demonstrate that historically, bank records contain private and personal information about spending habits, priorities and affiliations that the government is not free to rummage through without oversight.

The published Court of Appeals decision definitively declares that a "corporation's bank records are not an individual's person bank records." Slip op. at 6. It summarily holds that a corporation's business activities do not overlap with a person's private affairs, even if an individual may be personally liable for her conduct performed on behalf of a corporation. Slip op. at 6-7. By drawing an absolute line that no bank record regarding a business account may contain private affairs, the Court of Appeals concludes no citizen is entitled to hold a personal privacy interest in financial transactions described in a corporation's financial records and judicial oversight is not required before issuing wide-ranging administrative summons for any bank records of a business. *Id.* at 7.

2. Summoning all banking records in a business account without oversight is inconsistent with historical protections and far broader than the statute allows.

Miles and Reeder Error! Bookmark not defined. focused on the rights of the accused individual to keep certain information free from unfettered governmental intrusion, even if the criminal allegation is rooted in business behavior. This stems from a long-standing recognition that it is "human beings who own, run, and are employed by" businesses and they have protected privacy interests. Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., U.S. __, 134 S. Ct. 2751, 2768, 189 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2014). A corporation "is simply a form of organization used by human beings to achieve desired ends" and the Fourth Amendment protects "the rights of these people" even when associated with a corporation. Id. While a business "may open itself to [privacy] intrusions that would not be permissible in a purely private context," a business may not be unreasonably searched. G.M. Leasing, Inc. v. United States, 429 U.S. 338, 353, 97 S.Ct. 619, 50 L.Ed.2d 530 (1977) (holding that tax agents lacked authority to search and seize documents potentially revealing hidden financial assets without warrant).

Because businesses are made of individuals, they also have constitutionally protected rights of free speech and association,

including the right to make political donations without governmental restrictions. *Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm'n*, 558 U.S. 310, 342, 349, 130 S. Ct. 876, 899, 175 L. Ed. 2d 753 (2010). They may assert the rights of their individual members. *NAACP v. Button*, 371 U.S. 415, 428, 83 S.Ct. 328, 9 L.Ed.2d 405 (1963); *see also Hale v. Henkel*, 201 U.S. 43, 76, 26 S.Ct. 370, 50 L.Ed. 652 (1906) ("A corporation is, after all, but an association of individuals under an assumed name and with a distinct legal entity. In organizing itself as a collective body it waives no constitutional immunities appropriate to such body.").

Government agencies may not search a corporate workplace without a warrant unless the search is tailored in scope and frequency based on the needs of the particular industry being regulated. *Donovan v. Dewey*, 452 U.S. 594, 601, 101 S.Ct. 2534, 69 L.Ed.2d 262 (1981); *Seymour v. Wash. State Department of Health, Dental Quality Assurance Commission*, 152 Wn.App. 156, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009) (holding Department of Health lacked authority to seize records from dental office in warrantless search investigating unprofessional conduct). The government's power to collect taxes does not entitle it to warrantless seizures of documents. *G.M. Leasing*, 429 U.S. at 355-55.

Historically, Washington has respected the private affairs of businesses from intrusion absent a proper request. Business records must be material to the investigation for a witness to be compelled to provide them. *In re Bolster*, 59 Wash. 655, 658, 110 P. 547 (1910). A company may be required to produce records "pertaining to" a regulated business, *Kelleher v. Minshull*, 11 Wn.2d 380, 402, 119 P.2d 302 (1941), but the government's request must be re narrowly tailored to the permissible state regulation.

Article I, section 7 provides, "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." From the time of statehood, Washington has construed the term "person" to include companies and individuals. *See Laws* of 1891, ch. 23 §1 (""person' may be construed to include . . . any public or private corporation or limited liability company, as well as an individual." (currently codified as RCW 1.16.080(1)). The Legislature directed this definition of person apply throughout "the code of procedure of this state." *Laws* of 1891, ch. 23 §1. A similar definition governs criminal proceedings. RCW 9A.04.110(17) ("Person," 'he or she,' and 'actor' include any natural person and, where relevant, a corporation, joint stock association, or an unincorporated association"); *see also Laws* of

1917, ch. 123, § 3 (currently codified as RCW 4.20.005) ("the word person shall also apply to bodies politic and corporate").

The Department of Revenue relied on its administrative authority under RCW 82.32.110, which says the Department:

may examine any books, papers, records, or other data, or stock of merchandise bearing upon the amount of any tax payable or upon the correctness of any return, or for the purpose of making a return where none has been made, or in order to ascertain whether a return should be made

The Department of Revenue's investigatory authority is not a broad power to fish through private documents. *Miles*, 160 Wn.2d at 249. The Department of Revenue exceeded its statutory authority because it issued overbroad administrative summonses to banks and failed to comply with the statutory remedy of contempt for a business owner's failure to comply. RCW 82.32.110.

It sent a summons saying that the remedy for failing to comply would be the possibility of a judicial finding of contempt. CP 30. This is the remedy set forth under the governing statute for the failure to comply with a request for records. RCW 82.32.110.

But it never sought a judicial finding of contempt for Mr. Chase when he did not provide bank records. Without any judicial oversight, it

went directly to the banks and demanded "all bank statements" and all checks deposited or written in the account of Red Leaf Construction.

CP 75.

The Department of Revenue's request was not narrowly tailored to its investigatory needs. It was investigating a failure to pay retail sales tax. CP 60. It did not limit its search to records of business conducted, such as deposits made — which would indicate payments generated by the company and thus be relevant to sales tax that should be paid — but rather demanded any record ever generated by the business over three years including any check ever written. CP 30, 75. Thus the government learned not merely what type of income the company earned but how it spent its money and what activities or associations it had. This private information is protected from unauthorized intrusion, as this Court explained in *Miles* and *Reeder*.

This Court should grant review to address the decision's conflict with this Courts decisions, the significant constitutional question raised, and because this issue of first impression is one of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Paul Chase respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant RAP 13.4(b).