FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2018 4:00 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95625-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

PAUL TIMOTHY CHASE,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MICHAEL PELLICCIOTTI WSBA No. 35554 / OID No. 91093 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Ave, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 389-3807

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Paul Chase seeks review of a Court of Appeals decision, which affirmed that Chase, who was a shareholder and officer of a corporation, did not have personal privacy interests in the corporation's records. In holding that the corporation's records did not implicate Chase's personal privacy interests, the Court of Appeals applied well-established case law that clearly separates corporate affairs from the personal affairs of a shareholder or officer. Moreover, the records at issue have historically not been considered a "private affair" because corporate tax audits have been statutorily authorized since at least 1935. This Court should deny the petition because Chase fails to establish any of the criteria for review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

If review were granted, the following issue would be presented:

1. Does a stockholder or officer of a closely held corporation have a personal privacy interest in the corporation's bank account information, where those records are sought for an audit by taxing authorities, and the records have historically been open to such audits?

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

The Department of Revenue audited a corporation, Red Leaf Construction, Inc., after a customer claimed that the company had not paid sales taxes. CP 89-91. As a part of the audit to determine what Red Leaf might owe the State, the Department issued an administrative summons to

Banner Bank, requesting Red Leaf's various corporate bank, check, leasing, and invoice records. CP 90. Banner Bank complied with this administrative summons. CP 90. The Department issued the bank summons after unsuccessfully serving Chase, Red Leaf's owner. CP 17-18, 30-32.

Upon reviewing these records, the Department determined that over many years Red Leaf had collected sales tax from customers but had not provided the tax it collected to the Department. CP 91. Believing these actions may be criminal, the Department referred the matter to the Attorney General. CP 87. Red Leaf was not charged with a crime, but evidence from its corporate records led the Attorney General's Criminal Justice Division to charge Chase with First Degree Theft. CP 85-86. Chase was the treasurer of the closely held corporation, in addition to serving as a corporate officer who was president, secretary, and board chairman. CP 89. The corporation is not a party in this case.

The trial court denied Chase's motion to suppress the audit of the corporate bank records, finding them not to be Chase's personal or private information. CP 19. On discretionary review, the Court of Appeals affirmed and held that Chase did not have a privacy interest in the corporation's financial records, and only the corporation, not Chase, had standing to challenge the corporate audit. *State v. Chase*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 799, 803-08, 407 P.3d 1178 (2017). Chase now petitions this Court for review.

IV. OVERVIEW OF ARGUMENT

This Court has consistently held that the personal affairs of corporate officers and stockholders are separate and distinct from the corporation's affairs. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with decisions of this Court, involve a significant constitutional question, or present an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. For these reasons, this Court should deny the petition for review.

V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Opinion by The Court Of Appeals is Consistent with the Decisions of This Court that Corporate Affairs are Separate and Distinct from the Private Affairs of Individual Shareholders and Officers

This Court has long held that a "corporation exists as an organization distinct from the personality of its shareholders." *Grayson v. Nordic Const. Co., Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 548, 552, 599 P.2d 1271 (1979). *Grayson* did not involve the search of a business, but did outline the importance of maintaining a distinction between the corporation and those people who comprise a corporate entity. *Id.* "The shareholders of a corporation, who are also the corporation's officers and directors [are to] conscientiously keep the affairs of the corporation separate from their personal affairs" *Id.* at 552-53 (citing *Frigidaire Sales Corp. v. Union Properties, Inc.*, 88 Wn.2d 400, 405, 562 P.2d 244 (1977)).

The principle upon which we proceed is that a corporation exists as an organization distinct from the personality of its shareholders. This separate organization, with its distinctive privileges and liabilities, is a legal fact, and not a fiction to be disregarded when convenient. The concentration of its ownership in the hands of one or two principal shareholders does not, ipso jure, dispel those corporate characteristics of the organization.

State v. Northwest Magnesite Co., 28 Wn.2d 1, 41, 182 P.2d 643, 663-64 (1947). The Court of Appeals correctly held that Red Leaf's corporate affairs are separate and distinct from Chase's private affairs, and "a corporation's separate legal identity is not lost merely because all of its stock is held by members of a single family or by one person." Chase, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 805 (quoting Grayson, 92 Wn.2d at 553).

Because it is expected that a corporation's affairs are separate from the private affairs of shareholders and officers, there was no likelihood that the private affairs of Chase or anyone else would have been disturbed in the Department's corporate audit. *Chase*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 805. The audit was limited to a search of corporate business records. *Id*. These records belonged to Red Leaf, not Chase. *Id*. at 802. As the court correctly held, there was no violation of Article, I, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution, because Chase did not show that *Chase's* private affairs were disturbed. *Id*. at 803-04 ("Article I, section 7 has two components: 'private affairs' and 'authority of

law.' If the defendant does not show that his private affairs were disturbed, there is no violation.").

Chase maintains that this Court should review this case because it runs afoul of State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 244, 156 P.3d 864 (2007), and State v. Reeder, 184 Wn.2d 805, 814-15, 365 P.3d 1243 (2015). But those cases are not applicable here. The State agrees that financial records held by a bank can fall within constitutional protections of private affairs. Miles, 160 Wn.2d at 244. But in Miles and Reeder, the Court held that a person has a privacy interest in their own bank records held by a bank, in their personal bank account. 160 Wn.2d at 251-52; 184 Wn.2d at 814-15. Neither *Miles* nor *Reeder* assert that a person has a privacy interest in the bank records of a separate legal entity, or of a business bank account. Id. Unlike in *Miles* or *Reeder*, the State did not issue a summons for Chase's personal bank records. Chase, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 805. The audit was for the corporate records belonging to Red Leaf. *Id.* The Court of Appeals properly recognized that the "corporation's bank records are not an individual's personal bank records." Id.

In addition, these corporate banking records are not "private affairs" because they have not historically been considered private. In *Miles*, this Court held that in determining whether a person's private affairs are being violated, there should be a review of the "nature and extent of the

information which may be obtained as a result of the government conduct' and at the historical treatment of the interest asserted." State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 869, 319 P.3d 9 (2014) (quoting Miles, 160 Wn.2d at 244; State v. McKinney, 148 Wn.2d 20, 29, 60 P.3d 46 (2002); and State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d 121, 156 P.3d 893 (2007)). The Court of Appeals correctly determined that records related to Red Leaf's collection of taxes have "historically been available to the Department for audit" and were obtained in accordance with statutory authority dating back to 1935 that allow for administrative summonses to determine corporate tax liability. Id. at 870. Further, the U.S. Supreme Court has held there is no expectation of privacy nor Fourth Amendment protection from a legitimate inquiry by taxing authorities. See Dep't of Revenue v. March, 25 Wn. App. 314, 320, 610 P.2d 916 (1979) (citing Couch v. United States, 409 U.S. 322, 335, 93 S.Ct. 611, 619, 34 L.Ed.2d 548, 558 (1973)).

Chase's reliance on *Miles* is misplaced, since Chase's personal affairs were not searched in this corporate audit and the search of Red Leaf's affairs that took place was statutorily authorized and historically acceptable. The Court of Appeals decision that "*Miles* does not control this case" is correct. *Chase*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 804. *Reeder* is inapposite for the same reason. The opinion by the Court of Appeals is consistent with the decisions

of this Court that a corporation's affairs are separate and distinct from the private affairs of individual shareholders and officers.

B. The Corporate Tax Audit of Red Leaf Was Statutorily Authorized, Historically Accepted, and Done Properly

Corporations are well aware that their business records are subject to a tax audit. The Revenue Act of 1935 created a variety of state sales, business, and excise taxes for generating state revenue. As a part of this tax structure, administrative auditing authority was codified at that time and has existed ever since. RCW 82.32.110. This statutory authority allows the Department to "examine any books, papers, records, or other data, or stock of merchandise bearing upon the amount of any tax payable or upon the correctness of any return, or for the purpose of making a return when none has been made, or in order to ascertain whether a return should be made " *Id*.

The Department examined Red Leaf's business records to determine the amount of tax payable and whether a tax return should be made, in accordance with the statute, by using a minimally invasive bank summons. See id. The audit showed that Red Leaf had collected sales tax from customers but had not forwarded these funds to the State. The audit established that the State was due this tax revenue. This audit was done pursuant to a long-standing statutory legal framework that set limits on how

the State can examine business tax records but still allow for the effective regulation of business. Without this authority, the people of Washington could not ensure that the sales tax they paid to state-incorporated businesses was reaching the State treasury. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Department acted in accordance with this historical statutory authority when it sought banking records to assess Red Leaf's sales tax liability after a customer complaint.

Chase relies on *Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc.*, __ U.S. __, 134 S.Ct. 2751, 2768, 189 L.Ed.2d 675 (2014), but that case has no application here. First, Chase incorrectly suggests that *Miles* and *Reeder* relied on the notion expressed in *Hobby Lobby* that certain personal rights should be enjoyed by a business as well because humans own, run, and are employed by the business. Pet. at 7. In fact, as discussed above, *Miles* and *Reeder* involved personal banking records of a human person, so the Court made no mention of this notion. Second, *Hobby Lobby* did not involve the Fourth Amendment, or any constitutional provision at all. Instead, it involved application of a federal statute, the Religious Freedom Restoration Act. *See Hobby Lobby*, 134 S.Ct. at 2759. Thus, it does not control here.

It is true that the Fourth Amendment protects the rights of people from being unreasonably searched, even when associated with a

corporation. G.M. Leasing, Inc. v. United States, 429 U.S. 338, 353, 97 S.Ct. 619, 50 L.Ed.2d 530 (1977) (holding that corporations retain some Fourth Amendment rights). However, this principle does not transform a corporation's business records into an individual's private affairs. A corporation's records are not someone else's private affairs. Moreover, a corporate bank account would not reveal the kind of information that a personal account would, and it historically has not been considered private. See RCW 82.32.110. Business by its special nature and voluntary existence may open itself to intrusions that would not be permissible in a purely private context. G.M. Leasing, Inc., 429 U.S. at 353-55. The fact that a warrant may be needed to physically enter a business premises, *Id.* at 353-55, does not change the historical treatment of business records as entitled to less protection than a person's private bank account. The audit of Red Leaf was statutorily authorized, of a corporate entity not an individual, and constitutionally sound. The Court of Appeals opinion that held this audit to be lawful was proper.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law that a corporation is separate from its shareholders and officers in determining that the corporation's banking records were not the personal affairs of the shareholder and officer. None of the criteria for this Court's review are satisfied; this Court should deny review.